Commission for Public Complaints Against the RCMP

2007-2008

Departmental Performance Report

The Honourable Peter Van Loan, P.C., M.P. Minister of Public Safety (Public Safety Canada)

Table of Contents

SECTION I: OVERVIEW	3
Chair's Message	4
Management Representation Statement	6
Summary Information	
Raison d'être: Vision, Mission and Mandate	7
Financial Resources	8
Human Resources	8
Department Priorities	8
Program Activities by Strategic Outcome	9
Context and Operating Environment	
Performance Overview	11
Section II: Analysis of Program Activities by Strategic Outcome	
Analysis by Program Activity	
Program Activity Description	
Expected Results and Results Achieved	16
SECTION III: SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION	19
Departmental Link to Government of Canada Outcome Areas	20
Table 1: Comparison of Planned to Actual Spending (including FTEs)	
Table 2: Voted and Statutory Items (\$000)	21
SECTION IV: OTHER ITEMS OF INTEREST	22
Contacts for Further Information and Web Site	23
Legislation	23
Recent Publications	23

Section I: Overview

Chair's Message

The public perception of institutional integrity flows from meaningful transparency and accountability. Institutional behaviours and public expectations evolve over time as a natural response to a range of advancements and challenges within society. Public perceptions on most issues are equally dynamic and what was once viewed as acceptable behaviour may no longer be considered as such.

Public institutions must be especially sensitive to changing public expectations in order to fulfill their mandates. The policing function is a public mandate that is particularly reliant upon public support. The public must have confidence that the police are their agents and will discharge their duties in both a professional and impartial manner. The Commission for Public Complaints Against the RCMP plays an essential role on behalf of both the public and the members of the RCMP in ensuring the restoration and maintenance of the integrity of the RCMP as a respected public institution.

During the fiscal year (FY) 2007-08, the Commission made significant progress toward this goal. It has implemented rigorous service standards throughout the entire complaint and review process. Despite a significant increase in both the number of complaints received and the number of cases appealed, it met and, in many cases, exceeded such standards.

An institution like the RCMP earns the public trust by being held to a high standard of transparency and accountability. That standard can only be achieved when a number of criteria are met; the RCMP's civilian oversight agency has access to all relevant material, and publishes meaningful factual findings and recommendations that are sufficiently persuasive to either substantiate the appropriateness of a member's conduct or bring RCMP policies, procedures, training, guidelines and member conduct into line with public expectations.

While addressing cases involving the conduct of individual RCMP members, the Commission has also aggressively sought to identify systemic problems that frequently are catalysts for individual member conduct complaints. The Commission launched a historic number of chair-initiated complaints this year, creating a comprehensive factual picture of police activities and enabling the Commission to examine RCMP practices on a detachment, division and national basis. This approach allowed the Commission to better inform the RCMP Commissioner, the Minister and the Canadian public of the true nature and scope of problems that have tended to be viewed as isolated events. To foster greater public debate on these important issues, the Commission will continue to publish on its website all reports containing adverse findings and its recommendations to address those findings.

Applying yesterday's model of oversight to today's policing environment falls short of meaningful transparency and accountability. To ensure the oversight model adequately evolves to keep pace with the ever-changing police environment, the Commission launched several new initiatives this year. It facilitated access to the complaints

process in the Aboriginal community by partnering with the National Association of Friendship Centres and increased the number of languages in which the public may communicate with the Commission from two to more than fourteen.

In recognition of public concerns about the impartiality of police investigations of shootings involving RCMP members, the Commission, in partnership with the RCMP in British Columbia, launched the Independent Observer Pilot Project in March 2007 to provide third-party assessments of the impartiality of police investigative teams charged with investigating such shootings. Broad operational policy reviews of numerous issues were also conducted this year. Among them, the Commission examined the propriety of the police investigating the police, police conduct relating to individuals suffering mental health crises, and the appropriate use of conducted energy weapons¹ to elicit compliance.

Since the RCMP is also a key partner in the current model of civilian oversight of RCMP conduct, it too has responsibilities to the Canadian public. Those responsibilities include providing an impartial investigation and response to citizen complaints against RCMP members. As a steward of the complaints process, the Commission undertook an extensive review of all RCMP complaint dispositions in 2007 to assure itself that the RCMP was successfully fulfilling its oversight responsibilities.

On November 20, 2007, the Minister of Public Safety asked the Commission to review the RCMP's protocols on the use of conducted energy weapons and their implementation, including compliance with such protocols. This Ministerial request, the first of its kind in the history of the Commission, is a further reflection of the need to respond to the increased public demands for greater transparency and accountability. An important part of meeting these ongoing demands includes the enhancements I originally proposed in my 2006 draft legislation.

A chorus of voices, as reflected in the recommendations of the Arar Inquiry, the Task Force on Governance and Cultural Change in the RCMP and the Report of the Standing Committee on Public Accounts, continues to call for more meaningful police accountability. My colleagues and I at the Commission will continue to work constructively with the public, the government and the RCMP to create more meaningful accountability of policing in Canada.

Paul E. Kennedy

_

¹ Conducted energy weapon (CEW) is also commonly referred to as a conducted energy device (CED), Taser® or stun gun.

Management Representation Statement

I submit for tabling in Parliament, the 2007–08 Departmental Performance Report for the Commission for Public Complaints Against the RCMP. This document has been prepared based on the reporting principles contained in the *Guide for the Preparation of Part III of the 2007–08 Estimates: Reports on Plans and Priorities and Departmental Performance Reports*:

- It adheres to the specific reporting requirements outlined in the Treasury Board Secretariat guidance;
- It is based on the Commission's approved Strategic Outcome and Program Activity Architecture that were approved by the Treasury Board;
- It presents consistent, comprehensive, balanced and reliable information;
- It provides a basis of accountability for the results achieved with the resources and authorities entrusted to it; and
- It reports finances based on approved numbers from the Estimates and the Public Accounts of Canada.

Paul E. Kennedy Chair

Summary Information

Raison d'être: Vision, Mission and Mandate

The Commission for Public Complaints Against the RCMP (CPC) is an independent agency and is not part of the Royal Canadian Mounted Police (RCMP). The Commission's fundamental role is to provide civilian review of the conduct of the RCMP members in carrying out their policing duties, thereby holding the RCMP accountable to the public. This public accountability is not only an essential part in helping ensure that police officers exercise their considerable authority legally and appropriately but also a key element in the checks and balances required to tackle crime in Canada.

The CPC has the authority to make findings and recommendations, but cannot impose discipline or make monetary awards to complainants.

The CPC's Vision and Mission Statements set out why it exists, what it does to support the Government of Canada outcome of safe and secure communities and how it achieves its objectives.

Vision

Excellence in policing through accountability.

Mission

To provide civilian review of RCMP members' conduct in performing their policing duties so as to hold the RCMP accountable to the public.

Mandate

The mandate of the CPC is set out in Part VII of the RCMP Act and can be summarized as follows:

- to receive complaints from the public about the conduct of RCMP members;²
- to initiate complaints to delve into RCMP conduct when it is in the public interest to do so:
- to conduct reviews when complainants are not satisfied with the RCMP's handling of their complaints;
- to hold hearings and conduct investigations; and
- to report findings and make recommendations.

² Please note: The term "members" as used in this document includes all persons appointed under the *RCMP Act*, i.e. both regular and civilian members of the RCMP.

Financial Resources (\$000)

	2007–08	
Planned Spending	Total Authorities	Actual Spending
5,622	7,507	6,801

Human Resources (FTEs)

	2007-08	
Planned	Actual	Difference
44	48*	4

^{*} Note the Commission received program integrity funding covering the last 4 months of this report. The Commission received authority for an additional 16 staff positions for the last quarter which translates into 4 Full-Time Equivalents

Department Priorities

	Name	Туре	Performance Status
1.	Improving the Complaints and Review Processes	Ongoing	Successfully Met
2.	Enhancing Collaboration with Provinces and Client Communities	New	Successfully Met
3.	Improving Human Resources Management	Ongoing	Successfully Met
4.	Improving Corporate Management	Ongoing	Successfully Met
5.	Building for the Future	Ongoing	Successfully Met

Program Activities by Strategic Outcome

		2007-200	Contributes	
				to the
	Performance	Planned	Actual	following
Expected Results	Status	Spending	Spending	priority

Strategic Outcome: Upholding safe communities through the promotion of Canadian values of respect for human and civil rights, multiculturalism and diversity, equality and fairness, and respect for the rule of law.

Program Activity: Civilian review of RCMP members' conduct in the	The CPC's findings and recommendations are accepted by the RCMP Commissioner.	Successfully Met	7,507	6,801	P- 1 P- 3 P- 4 P- 5
performance of their duties.	recommendations are influencing RCMP conduct and national policing policy.	Successfully Met	7,507	6,801	P- 1 P- 2 P- 3 P- 4

Context and Operating Environment

The Government of Canada is committed to fostering safe and secure communities that reflect the values that are important to Canadians. These values include a diverse society that promotes linguistic duality and social inclusion. CPC's priorities are at the very core of these commitments. By striving towards its own strategic outcome of "Upholding safe communities through the promotion of Canadian values of respect for human and civil rights, multiculturalism and diversity, equality and fairness and respect for the rule of law" and pursuing its vision of "Excellence in policing through accountability" the CPC can enhance the trust between law enforcement and citizens and create an awareness amongst all citizens that they have a right to complain and that a complaint will be heard and evaluated impartially and fairly for all parties affected.

The CPC's main stakeholder is the Canadian public. It receives complaints from the public and refers them to the RCMP for investigation as required by the *RCMP Act*. It can also review the RCMP's disposition of these complaints if the complainant is not

satisfied. The CPC may initiate complaints, conduct investigations, hold public hearings and make findings and recommendations to the Commissioner of the RCMP.

The environment in which police discharge their responsibilities has undergone significant change over the past 20 years. The current government in 2006 made "Accountability" one of its first five priorities. The recently enacted *Federal Accountability Act* provides new oversight mechanisms and strengthened whistle blower protection.

It has been said that the "only constant is change" and one area that has experienced unprecedented change over the last 20 years is public safety. Globalization, mass migration, technological advancements and the existence of failed or failing states have all contributed to a witch's brew of sophisticated crime in the form of transnational organized crime, global terrorism, and the ever-ubiquitous Internet with its hackers, fraud artists and hate distributors.

Governments have responded to these challenges by increasing police budgets and enacting new legislation. Police services have altered their investigative practices and since the year 2000 we have witnessed the growth of *ad hoc* and permanent integrated enforcement teams both domestically and internationally.

The RCMP within Canada plays a key role in this new mode of policing. The RCMP is unique in that it is one of the very few police services in the world that is present at all three levels of government. As the national police force, it is present in all 10 provinces and 3 territories, it is the provincial police force in 8 provinces and is the municipal police force in over 200 municipalities, some of which have a population base in excess of 400,000 persons.

It is inevitable that such a police service will be the subject of public complaints as to how it discharges its duties. Since 1988 there has been on average 2,000 annual complaints. They range in nature from complaints of rudeness, to police shootings that result in serious injury or death, to appropriate response to large public protests such as those that took place at the Asia-Pacific Economic Co-operation (APEC) Summit in Vancouver and the Summit of the Americas in Quebec City. The vast majority of these complaints can be adequately addressed under the current legislation. However, it is clear that individual cases can highlight glaring defects in the review mechanism which undermine its credibility, foster tension between the RCMP and the Commission, and have helped spawn a growth in the 'Public Inquiry' business.

Police review bodies such as our Commission are creatures of statute. We are only as strong as Parliament makes us. We cannot pretend to have powers or the ability to impose obligations that have no basis in legislation. Justice O'Connor in his report of December 11, 2006 provided detailed policy recommendations that would address the weaknesses of the existing review mechanism. Those policy recommendations largely mirror model draft legislation developed by the Commission and posted on its Web site on August 17, 2006.

Lack of a modern review mechanism, can lead the government of the day to turn to inquiries such as those recently conducted by Mr. Rae, Justice O'Connor, Justice Major, Justice Iacobucci, Mr. Brown, as well as to the examination of issues by Parliamentary committees.

These kinds of challenges to accountability of police are not unique to the federal government. Provincial governments have faced them as well. Quebec passed new legislation in 2002 to improve its police accountability regime. Alberta recently amended its Police Act to create a Special Investigative Unit model similar to Ontario's to investigate incidents or complaints involving serious injury or death, and matters of a serious or sensitive nature that have resulted from the actions of a police officer. Saskatchewan, in 2006, updated its legislation. British Columbia has recently completed a review by Mr. Justice Woods wherein he has recommended significant changes to its legislation. Ontario has passed Bill 103 to expand its complaints review model. Many of the provincial regimes were of more recent vintage than the federal model; nevertheless, they found it necessary to refresh those models to better address today's public expectations of transparency and accountability.

What is required is a modernized legislative mandate for civilian review of policing activities – one which better reflects current public expectations of accountability and transparency. An enhanced legislative mandate would assist the Commission to better address the increasing public demands for greater transparency and accountability of policing in Canada.

Performance Overview

Priority No. 1 – Improving the Complaints and Review Processes

The Commission launched a unique project in FY 2007-08 to examine all RCMP complaint dispositions – not merely those where a complainant has requested a CPC review. Historically, the Commission has examined only about 10 per cent of complaints lodged against the RCMP. Called the Review of the Record, this initiative examines every RCMP complaint disposition in the calendar year, beginning with 2007. It studies the types of allegations made by the public and how the RCMP disposes of these complaints, including whether dispositions conform to RCMP policy.

The Review of the Record project has already achieved exceptional results. It has increased cooperation between the CPC and the RCMP; it has assisted in reducing the large number of outstanding complaint dispositions; and, through quantitative and qualitative analysis, it has uncovered trends that if addressed have the potential to improve the quality of the public complaints system and enhance service to the public.

The CPC national intake office in Surrey, British Columbia, processed a total of 3,228 general enquiries, informal resolutions and formal complaints against the RCMP this year. This number represents a 37 per cent increase from last year.

The Commission has taken steps to improve the quality of its management decision-making information by enhancing the quality and integrity of data in the Case Tracking System (CTS), implementing a milestone tracking system to enable the active management of review files within the 120-day performance standard and establishing a correspondence tracking capability.

In FY 2007-08 the Commission initiated an innovative pilot project that assigned Commission staff to observe and assess the impartiality of RCMP investigations involving high-profile and serious incidents such as in-custody deaths. Launched in March 2007 in conjunction with the RCMP's Office of Investigative Standards and Practices in British Columbia, the Independent Observer Pilot Project seeks to address the public's concerns about the impartiality of RCMP investigations into incidents where the actions of RCMP members had resulted in serious injury or death and for other investigations that are high profile and sensitive in nature.

By March 31, 2008, the CPC Observer had responded to six RCMP-involved incidents, three of which, due to their significant public interest, later gave rise to chair-initiated complaints. The program continues to operate in British Columbia and will be evaluated in 2008-2009 with an eye to nationwide expansion. More information about the CPC Independent Observer Pilot is available on the CPC website.

Priority No. 2 – Enhancing Collaboration with Provinces and Client Communities

In addition to its federal responsibilities, the RCMP also provides community policing services under contract in all provinces and territories except Ontario and Quebec. Senior representatives of the provinces and three territories meet regularly with officials from the Department of Public Safety and the RCMP to address service delivery related issues. As the conduct of all RCMP members performing such policing services remains subject to the CPC's complaints and review process, the Commission attended a session and updated officials on various initiatives that it had undertaken throughout the year. The CPC will continue to broaden and deepen its relationships with these provincial officials.

In recognition of the need to provide a uniform quality of civilian oversight of police in the contracting provinces, the CPC in March 2008 hosted a meeting of civilian police oversight bodies to discuss a broad range of operational and strategic matters. Future meetings will be held with a view to identifying opportunities for enhanced collaboration between the CPC and its provincial counterparts.

To make its services more accessible to the public at large, the Commission has made its brochures and complaint form available on its website in several languages and dialects besides French and English. These include Arabic, Chinese, Filipino, Hindi, Inuktitut, Japanese, Korean, Labrador Inuktitut, Persian, Punjabi, Spanish and Vietnamese. In addition to services for the hearing-impaired, the CPC also provides simultaneous interpretation services in a practically endless list of foreign languages via

three-way phone transmission should a citizen require this assistance. Translation Bureau assistance is also available to the CPC in 30 Aboriginal languages and dialects.

Finally, the Commission has started the process of simplifying its website to make it more user-friendly and to meet the Treasury Board Secretariat's Common Look and Feel Standards for the Internet (CLF 2.0).

Priority No. 3 – Improving Human Resources Management

The Commission is very cognisant of the fact that as a small organization with a vital mandate it relies heavily on its talented and dedicated staff, therefore it takes its human resource requirements very seriously. The Commission has implemented, as one of its activities related to the full implementation of the Public Service Modernization Act, an integrated business and human resources planning process. This initiative was undertaken in order to set the foundation for assessing and understanding our current and future needs. It is also intended to identify optimal strategies and activities for the human resource management components of recruitment, retention, learning, development, employee engagement, promotion, succession, employment equity and official languages.

In addition, the Commission developed and implemented a Staffing Management Accountability Framework which is an integral part of the human resources accountability framework ensuring CPC's compliance with the new public service legislation, Public Service Commission policy, delegation requirements and staffing values.

In its continuing quest for workplace excellence, the Commission developed and implemented an Employee Pride and Recognition program. It also launched a process this year to establish a Commission-wide code of conduct suitable for a quasi-judicial body. The new code will dovetail with ongoing Government of Canada efforts to develop a model code of conduct for all departments.

Priority No. 4 – Improving Corporate Management

A performance management regime has been established that enables the Commission to ensure that the initiatives being undertaken in its Business Plan are achieving the desired outcomes at all levels and that the assigned resources are being used as effectively as possible.

Through communication planning activities the complexity and importance of the Commission's communication activities became clear. Accountability to the public demands a high standard of transparency. To meet its mandate to be accessible to the public demands that the Commission be very cognisant of its varied audiences. The past year has been a demanding one for communications, one which was met with a response that took into consideration the goals and mandate of the Commission.

In accordance with the TB Policy on Internal Audit, the Commission, as an SDA (Small Departments and Agencies), is not required to establish an internal audit function. As well, the policy stipulates that the Comptroller General will conduct horizontal and other audits on SDAs each year. Having reviewed the Commission's risk environment, risk profile and control environment, no additional internal audits are considered to be required.

Priority No. 5 – Building for the Future

In the fall of 2007, the Commission received 16 months of additional government funding to enable it to better fulfill its existing mandate. The new funding will continue to the end of March 2009, and will be used for outreach, policy-related research and other research activities. Specifically, the Commission hopes to refine existing processes for complaints and reviews, raise public awareness about the Commission and its work, improve access to the public complaints machinery and build on the effectiveness of the CPC as a policing review agency. Although one of the expected results of this priority included an expanded CPC mandate, Public Safety Canada is the lead for any change to the Commission's mandate; CPC remains committed to working with Public Safety to this end.

The Commission reorganized in FY 2007-08, eliminating three executive positions and creating a Senior Director, Operations, responsible for managing all phases of the complaint and review process at the Commission, including intake, analysis, review and investigations, as well as some outreach activities. The reorganization is expected to facilitate the management of complaints. The CPC also created in November 2007, a Director position to oversee the new Strategic Policy and Research Division charged with exploring systemic issues underlying complaints and providing innovative information products for both the public and CPC staff. The work of this Division will also contribute positively to the important debates that occur when considering public policy in relation to policing issues.

On November 20, 2007, the Minister of Public Safety, the Honourable Stockwell Day, asked the Commission "to review the RCMP's protocols on the use of conducted energy weapons (CEDs) and their implementation, including compliance with such protocols" and to provide an interim report by December 12, 2007. On December 11, 2007, the Commission submitted a comprehensive interim report containing 10 recommendations for immediate implementation. Had the Strategic Policy and Research Division not already been in place at that point, the Commission would have been unable to respond to the urgent request from the Minister of Public Safety for a report on the RCMP's use of the conducted energy weapon. A capacity to undertake such research is necessary to respond to current public expectations of police accountability.

Section II: Analysis of Program Activities by Strategic Outcome

Analysis by Program Activity

Strategic Outcome

In the Commission's Report on Plans and Priorities tabled in March of 2007 the following strategic outcome was identified:

'Upholding safe communities through the promotion of Canadian values of respect for human and civil rights, multiculturalism and diversity, equality and fairness, and respect for the rule of law.

Early in 2007, the Commission, as part of a Treasury Board Secretariat (TBS) initiative, refined its Management Resources and Results Structure (MRRS). TBS policy requires that Strategic Outcomes include performance information and that departments capture and use performance information systemically. The Commission adopted the more measurable strategic outcome of:

'RCMP members are held publicly accountable for their conduct in the performance of their duties.'

Program Activity Name

Civilian review of RCMP members' conduct in the performance of their duties.

Financial Resources (\$000)

Planned Spending	Authorities	Actual Spending
5,622	7,507	6,801

Human Resources

Planned	Actual	Difference
44	48*	4

^{*} Note the Commission received program integrity funding covering the last 4 months of this report. The Commission received authority for an additional 16 staff positions for the last quarter which translates into 4 Full-Time Equivalents

Program Activity Description

The fundamental role of the CPC is to provide civilian oversight of RCMP members' conduct in the performance of their policing duties. The CPC holds the RCMP accountable to the public by providing, at the request of complainants, an independent

review of the RCMP's disposition of complaints and by making recommendations to the RCMP Commissioner.

In order to achieve its strategic outcome, the CPC must provide a service that is open and accessible to the communities it serves. The process needs to be efficient and effective, providing for a timely and quality product; it must be carried out by dedicated and committed public servants who work in a healthy and fulfilling environment and who are led by a team that can deliver within the management and policy frameworks laid down by Parliament and the Central Agencies.

Members of the public may make complaints about the conduct of RCMP members to the RCMP, the CPC or the provincial authority responsible for policing. Complaints are normally sent to the RCMP first. The RCMP Commissioner is required to report the results of investigations to complainants. If complainants are not satisfied with the RCMP's handling of the complaint, they may ask the CPC for a review of their case. The Chair of the CPC may also initiate a complaint if he considers there are reasonable grounds.

When reviewing a complaint, the CPC does not act as an advocate either for the complainant or for RCMP members. Rather, its role is to conduct an independent inquiry and reach objective conclusions based on the information available.

In conducting its review, the CPC considers all relevant information provided by the complainants and the RCMP. If not satisfied that such information is complete, it asks the RCMP for additional information or, where appropriate, conducts its own independent investigation. The Chair also has the authority to hold a public interest hearing to inquire into a complaint.

If the Chair or Vice-Chair is not satisfied with the RCMP's handling of a complaint, the CPC produces an interim report of its findings and recommendations; after the RCMP Commissioner replies to the interim report, a final report is forwarded to the Minister of Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness, to the Commissioner of the RCMP and to the parties. Alternatively, if the Chair or Vice-Chair concludes that the RCMP responded adequately to the complainant's concerns, a final report is delivered stating that the RCMP's handling of the complaint was satisfactory.

Expected Results and Results Achieved

Expected Results

The CPC's findings and recommendations are accepted by the RCMP Commissioner.

The CPC's recommendations are influencing RCMP conduct and national policing policy.

Results Achieved

The Commission processed an exceptionally high volume of enquiries, complaints and requests for review from individual complainants this year, and launched a record number of chair-initiated complaints. It sent CPC observers to assess the impartiality of six RCMP investigations, five of which involved the death of a detainee or suspect and one involving the use of pepper spray in a highly sensitive incident. The CPC also responded to a special request from the Minister of Public Safety to review RCMP rules on the use of the conducted energy weapon. Despite its large caseload, the Commission availed itself of new temporary funding this year to develop its own research agenda and launch a number of new studies, including a review of all RCMP complaint dispositions from 2007 and an assessment of RCMP policies in various areas.

In order to be effective in providing civilian review of the policing activities of RCMP members, the CPC must be relevant on a number of fronts: a clear mandate; awareness of the communities it serves; state of the art methods and tools; timeliness and quality of its product; and a solid governance and management infrastructure.

The CPC national intake office in Surrey, British Columbia, experienced a 37 per cent increase in contacts, processed a total of 3,228 general enquiries, informal resolutions and formal complaints against the RCMP this year. This is a good indication that the investments in community outreach and public awareness are having an effect on access to the complaint process.

This year the CPC implemented performance-based service standards for each step of the complaints and review process. Although both the number of complaints initiated with the CPC and the number of reviews requested by complainants increased substantially this year, the CPC by reallocating resources and deferring other projects met its service standards. However meeting the standards with the level of increased volume is not sustainable in the long run and additional resources are needed.

In addition, the CPC has improved its procedures for the tracking of work done by both the CPC and the RCMP throughout the public complaints process. These improvements have enhanced the ability of complainants, RCMP members and Canadians to hold the CPC and the RCMP accountable for a timely response to public complaints.

Intent on further improving business practices, on August 1, 2007, the Commission introduced a service standard of receiving a complaint, finalizing the information and forwarding that information to the RCMP for investigation within four days. Internal business process improvements, coupled with the implementation of secure electronic transmission to the RCMP, have dramatically shortened the time required to process formal complaints. At the beginning of the fiscal year it took an average of almost 11 days before the RCMP would receive the formal complaint for processing. By year end, this figure was reduced to an average of just 3.1 days.

Section 45.37 of the *RCMP Act* authorizes the Chair of the CPC to initiate a complaint to review the conduct of an RCMP member or members. The ability to self-initiate such a review allows the CPC to broaden its scope of review beyond what may have been articulated by individual complainants, leading to the identification of systemic issues that may not otherwise be adequately explored. The CPC initiated two such broad complaints in 2006-2007 and four in 2007-2008. The increase in the number of chair-initiated complaints launched this year highlights the Commission's shift away from its traditionally reactive role to a more proactive one that targets systemic issues. Results of these reviews have been published on the Commission's website.

On October 10, 2007, the Chair of the Commission released the final report on his public interest investigation into complaints received relating to RCMP investigations of alleged sexual abuse at the Kingsclear Youth Training Centre in New Brunswick.

This public interest investigation, announced in May 2004, examined allegations that the RCMP had not properly investigated alleged criminal conduct by RCMP Staff Sergeant Clifford McCann, and Kingsclear staff and residents. The investigation also considered allegations that members of the RCMP engaged in activities designed to cover up this alleged criminal conduct. The full report is available on the CPC website.

Although the Commission recommendations are not binding, the RCMP Commissioner accepted about three quarters of the CPC's adverse findings and recommendations. This is a significant increase from the previous year. As a result, individual members received additional training or operational guidance and important changes have been made to RCMP policy and training practices.

The Commission has continued to implement proactive and strategic improvements to its operations with a view to the future. The Chair continues to call on the government to enhance the Commission's legislative mandate and financial base as recommended not only by the O'Connor Inquiry, but subsequently by the February 2007 Senate Committee Anti-terrorism Act report, the December 2007 report of the Task Force on Governance and Cultural Change in the RCMP and the December 2007 report of the Standing Committee on Public Accounts. The Commission continues to be committed to working constructively with the public, the government and the RCMP to reinvigorating police accountability though enhanced civilian oversight.

The CPC continues seeking to become more relevant by fostering support for expanding its legislative mandate. But the Commission is not waiting passively for this to happen. It developed and promoted a business case for an enhanced resource base to enable program integrity improvement. It began a program of enhanced research and information management capacity with the intention of devoting more resources to the analysis of emerging trends and providing strategic policy advice to government. It expanded its outreach and communications function to reach marginalized and disaffected communities and continued its efforts to foster a workplace of choice.

Section III: Supplementary Information

Departmental Link to Government of Canada Outcome Areas

Strategic Outcome: Upholding safe communities through the promotion of Canadian values of respect for human and civil rights, multiculturalism and diversity, equality and fairness, and respect for the rule of law.

Program Activity Name	Actual Spending 2007-08 (\$000)			Alignment to Government of Canada Outcome Area
Civilian review of RCMP members'	Budgetary	Non-budgetary	Total	Social Affairs - Safe and Secure Communities
conduct in the performance of their duties.	6,801	0	6,801	

Because of its role, the CPC is in a unique position to contribute to the overall Government of Canada outcomes, more specifically to *safe and secure communities*.

Table 1: Comparison of Planned to Actual Spending (including FTEs)

	2005- 200			2007–2008			
(\$ 000)	2006 Actual	2007 Actual	Main Estimates	Planned Spending	Total Authorities	Actual	
Civilian review of RCMP members' conduct in the performance of their duties.	5,830	6,626	5,622	7,507	7,586	6,801	
Total	5,830	6,626	5,622	7,507	7,586	6,801	
Less: Non-respendable revenue	0	0	N/A	0	N/A	3	
Plus: Cost of services received without charge	594	870	N/A	707	N/A	881	
Total Departmental Spending	6,424	7,496	N/A	8,214	N/A	7,679	
Full-time Equivalents	44	44	N/A	48	N/A	48	

Table 2: Voted and Statutory Items (\$000)

		2007–2008				
Vote or Statutory Item	Truncated Vote or Statutory Wording	Main Estimates	Planned Spending	Total Authorities	Actual	
65	Program expenditures	5,051	6,936	6,936	6,230	
(S)	Contributions to employee benefit plans	571	571	571	571	
	Total	5,622	7,507	7,507	6,801	

For supplementary information on the department's User Fees, please visit:

http://www.tbs-sct.gc.ca/dpr-rmr/2007-2008/index-eng.asp

For supplementary information on the department's travel policies, please visit:

http://www.tbs-sct.gc.ca/dpr-rmr/2007-2008/index-eng.asp

Section IV: Other Items of Interest

Contacts for Further Information and Web Site

By e-mail:

complaints@cpc-cpp.gc.ca (for complaints)

reviews@cpc-cpp.gc.ca (for reviews)

org@cpc-cpp.gc.ca (for general enquiries)

By telephone:

From anywhere in Canada: 1-800-665-6878

TTY: 1-866-432-5837

By fax:

(604) 501-4095

By mail:

7337 137 Street Suite 102 Surrey BC V3W 1A4

On the Web:

http://www.cpc-cpp.gc.ca/

Legislation

The CPC shares responsibility with the RCMP for carrying out the provisions of Part VII, Royal Canadian Mounted Police Act (R.S., c. R-10, Part VII).

In addition, the CPC reports to Parliament on Parts VI and VII of the *Royal Canadian Mounted Police Act* (R.S., c. R-10, Part VI, Part VII).

Recent Publications

Annual Report 2007–2008

Strategic Plan - January 2008